THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

John D. McLeod, Administrative Law Judge

RECEIVED

FEB 26 2018

Case No. 16-ALJ-17-0113-CC
Appellate Case No. 2017-001519

SC Court of Appeals

Books-A-Million, Inc.....Appellant.

v.

South Carolina Department of RevenueRespondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Burnet R. Maybank, III (Bar No. 3699)
Jim Rourke (Bar No. 79879)
NEXSEN PRUET, LLC
1230 Main Street, Suite 700 (29201)
Post Office Drawer 2426
Columbia, South Carolina 29202-2426
PHONE: 803.771.8900
FACSIMILE: 803.253.8277
bmaybank@nexsenpruet.com
jrourke@nexsenpruet.com

Attorneys for Appellant
Books-A-Million, Inc.

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter was before the South Carolina Administrative Law Court (the “ALC” or “the Court”) pursuant to a Request for a Contested Case Hearing filed by Appellant Books-A-Million, Inc. (“Appellant” or “Books-A-Million”) challenging the South Carolina Department of Revenue’s (“Respondent’s,” “the Department’s” or “the DOR’s”) final determination, in which the Department assessed Appellant taxes, penalties, and interest following a sales tax audit for periods beginning January 1, 2012 and ending August 31, 2015. In its determination, the Department assessed Appellant \$226,310.70 in income taxes, \$15,703.13 in related interest, and \$63.14 in related penalties.

The Department issued its final determination on March 15, 2016 (Department Determination at pp. 1-6; R. pp. 429-34), and Appellant timely appealed to the ALC. The sole issue before the ALC was whether the proceeds from Appellant’s South Carolina sales of Millionaire’s Club memberships should have been included in Appellant’s gross proceeds of sales and, therefore subject to sales taxes. The parties filed Stipulations of Facts with the Court on September 13, 2016 (Stipulation of Facts at pp. 1-3; R. pp. 438-41). On March 6, 2017, both parties filed Motions for Summary Judgment (Respondent’s Motion for Summary Judgment at pp. 1-2; R. pp. 208-09; Appellant’s Motion for Summary Judgment at p. 1; R. p. 173). The parties agreed there were no material facts in dispute but disagreed as to the application of the law to the undisputed facts.

A Motions hearing was held before the Court on May 9, 2017. On June 1, 2017, the ALC issued its Order ruling in favor of the Department (Final Order and Decision at pp. 1-11; R. p. 14-24). On June 6, 2017, the ALC issued an Order vacating the Previous Order and amending Order granting Respondent’s Motion for Summary Judgment (Order Vacating Previous Order and

Amending Order Granting Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment at pp. 1-11; R. p. 3-13).

The ALC Order upheld the Department's entire Assessment of taxes, penalties, and interest.

Appellant filed a Motion for Reconsideration, which was denied, and subsequently timely appealed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The parties entered into a Stipulations of Facts (Stipulations of Fact at pp. 1-3; R. p. 438-40), which stated in relevant part:

1. The [Appellant] operates a discount book retail business headquartered in Birmingham, Alabama. The [Appellant] sells books, magazines, collectible supplies, cards, and other gifts in retail stores throughout the country and online. The [Appellant] operates thirteen (13) retail locations in South Carolina.
2. The [Appellant] offers a discount program to its customers called the Millionaire's Club (the "Club"). A customer must pay a \$25.00 annual fee to belong to the Club (the "Membership Fee"). A customer will either pay the fee separately or along with other purchases. The Club membership expires one (1) year from the date of payment of the Membership Fee, unless the membership is automatically renewed as described below. The payment of the Membership Fee entitles Club members to the following benefits on purchases made at the [Appellant]'s retail and online locations (collectively, the "Discounts"):
 - a. 40% off the list price of current hardcover Books-A-Million Store Bestsellers;
 - b. 20% off the list price of all Books-A-Million designated adult hardcover books;
 - c. 10% off the marked Books-A-Million sale price of other eligible items;
 - d. Free Shipping with online purchases;
 - e. Up to 40% off bestsellers and featured items online;
 - f. Periodic special promotions online and at Books-A-Million Stores; and
 - g. New members are eligible to receive a \$5.00 Reward Card, which expires 30 days after activation.
3. The Membership Fee may be refunded if cancelled during the first 30 days of a customer's membership term and the customer has not used the membership to obtain an applicable discount or benefit. Memberships automatically review each year for one-year periods unless the customer affirmatively opts out of the automatic renewal or the membership is otherwise cancelled or terminated. So long as the customer does not opt out, the [Appellant] bills the annual Membership Fee annually

to the credit or debit card provided when the customer initially enrolled in the Club. The [Appellant] may unilaterally terminate a customer's membership at any time and without notice for any reason in its sole discretion.

4. The [Appellant] does not charge sales tax on the cost of the Membership Fee.

[END OF STIPULATION]

Many membership groups sell tangible personal property. According to retail reports submitted by Appellant, US consumers held 3.3 billion memberships in 29 major customer loyalty programs in 2015, spread among retail, financial services, travel and other economic sectors (Petitioner's Memorandum of Law in Opposition to DOR's Motion for Summary Judgment at p. 5 and Exhibit A p. 1; R. pp. 226 and 237).

Specialty store loyalty memberships total 434 million (*Id.*). Types of customer loyalty programs include discounts, rebates, cash-back, points, free shipping, free gifts, free services and upgrades. Some customer loyalty programs require members to pay a fee, including Costco, Barnes & Noble, and Sam's Club. Others are free (*Id.* at pp. 5-6 and Exhibits B, C, D, and E; R. pp. 238-65).

EdVenture, the South Carolina State Museum, and Riverbanks Zoo have membership programs in the Midlands (*Id.* at p. 6 and Exhibits F and G; R. pp. 226 and 265-81). All three of these institutions have retail gift shops. In some cases, members receive discounts on merchandise (*Id.*).

A number of private country clubs with membership fees are located in the Midlands. Many, if not most, have a restaurant as well as a retail shop, which sell golf and clothing merchandise. But for the membership, one could not purchase food at the restaurant or items at the golf stores.

Membership cards are not tangible personal property—instead, they represent an intangible right to receive a discount.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Administrative Procedures Act governs appellate review of decisions from the ALC. *DirecTV, Inc. v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue*, 421 S.C. 59, 804 S.E.2d 633 (Ct. App. 2017); *Risher v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env'tl. Control*, 393 S.C. 198, 203, 712 S.E.2d 428, 431 (2011). The review of the [ALC]'s order must be confined to the record. The court may not substitute its judgment for the judgment of the [ALC] as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact. The court of appeals may affirm the decision or remand the case for further proceedings; or it may reverse or modify the decision if the substantive rights of the petitioner have been prejudiced because the finding, conclusion, or decision is:

- (a) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;
- (b) in excess of the statutory authority of the agency;
- (c) made upon unlawful procedure;
- (d) affected by other error of law;
- (e) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record; or
- (f) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.

S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610(B) (Supp. 2016).

An appellate court should only reverse the ALC's order if it is unsupported by substantial evidence in the record or contains an error of law. *Original Blue Ribbon Taxi Corp. v. S.C. Dep't of Motor Vehicles*, 380 S.C. 600, 604, 670 S.E.2d 674, 676 (Ct. App. 2008); see also *Media Gen. Commc'ns, Inc. v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue*, 388 S.C. 138, 144, 694 S.E.2d 525, 528 (2010) (“A

reviewing court may reverse the decision of the ALC [when] it is in violation of a statutory provision or it is affected by an error of law.”). Questions of statutory interpretation are questions of law, which [the appellate court is] free to decide without any deference to the court below.” *Centex Int’l, Inc. v. S.C. Dep’t of Revenue*, 406 S.C. 132, 139, 750 S.E.2d 65, 69 (2013) (first alteration in original) (quoting *CFRE, LLC v. Greenville Cty. Assessor*, 395 S.C. 67, 74, 716 S.E.2d 877, 881 (2011)).

I. ARGUMENTS

A. **The ALC Erred in Holding that the Amounts Collected by Books-A-Million for the Membership Cards are Subject to Sales Tax.**

1. **General**

The ALC Order held that “Membership Fees” (defined in the Stipulations of Fact above) collected by Books-A-Million for the sale of membership cards were subject to sales tax. The Order holds that the Membership Fee is subject to sales tax as gross proceeds of sale because the membership cards are sometimes sold in conjunction with the sale of tangible personal property (books, CDs and the like). Books-A-Million asserts that under the plain meaning of S.C. Code Ann. § 12-36-910, the Membership Fees collected are not subject to sales tax because membership cards are not tangible personal property under § 12-36-60, and therefore the Membership Fees cannot constitute gross proceeds of sales under § 12-36-90. Books-A-Million also argues that renewals of membership cards are not subject to sales taxes as the renewals are automatic and rarely done in connection with the purchase of tangible personal property. Based upon the plain meaning of the applicable provisions of Chapter 36 of Title 12, sales and renewals of memberships are not included in the “gross proceeds of sales” of tangible personal property.

As explained by the Supreme Court in *Alltel Communications, Inc. v. South Carolina Department of Revenue*, 399 S.C. 313, 731 S.E.2d 869 (2012), “[t]he usual rules of statutory

construction apply to the interpretation of tax statutes.” See also *Multi-Cinema, Ltd. v. S.C. Tax Comm’n*, 292 S.C. 411, 413, 357 S.E.2d 6, 7 (1987). “The cardinal rule of statutory construction is to ascertain and effectuate the intent of the legislature.” *Media Gen. Commc’ns v. Dep’t of Revenue*, 388 S.C. 138, 147, 694 S.E.2d 525, 529 (quoting *Charleston Cnty. Sch. Dist. v. State Budget & Control Bd.*, 313 S.C. 1, 5, 437 S.E.2d 6, 8 (1993)) (internal quotations omitted).

S.C. Code Ann. § 12-36-910 provides that the sales tax “is imposed upon every person engaged or continuing within this State in the business of selling tangible personal property at retail.” In order to determine whether the amounts collected for the Membership Fees constitute “gross proceeds of sales” subject to sales tax under § 12-36-910, the statutory definition of the term “gross proceeds of sales” must be applied. That definition is provided by § 12-36-90, which defines “gross proceeds of sales” as “... the value proceeding or accruing from the sale, lease or rental of tangible personal property.” Therefore, in order to ascertain whether gross proceeds of sales exist, this court must first ascertain whether the membership itself constitutes tangible personal property. Section 12-36-60 defines the term as follows:

“Tangible personal property” means personal property which may be seen, weighed, measured, felt, touched, or which is in any other manner perceptible to the senses. It also includes services and intangibles, including communications, laundry and related services, furnishing of accommodations and sales of electricity, the sale or use of which is subject to tax under this chapter and does not include stocks, notes, bonds, mortgages, or other evidences of debt.

At the oral argument on this matter, the DOR’s attorney conceded, “The Department has never argued that the membership program is tangible personal property.” (Tr. p. 27, lines 14-16; R. p. 414, lines 14-16).

As a threshold matter, the ALC Order is not supported by the plain language of the statutes, which make clear that only the gross proceeds of sales of tangible personal property are subject to sales tax. Under the statute, tangible personal property includes only two categories: “*personal*

property which may be seen, weighed, measured, felt, touched, or which is in any other manner perceptible to the senses” and “*services and intangibles* ... the sale ... of which is subject to tax under this chapter.” (Emp. added) See § 12-36-60. Such intangibles are communications and electricity. Thus, the amounts charged for a Membership Fee cannot constitute “value proceeding or accruing from the sale . . . of tangible personal property” under the plain meaning of the language enacted by the General Assembly. As discussed at length below, the Department agrees that Membership Fees charged by membership only warehouses (Sam’s Club and Costco) are not subject to sales taxes (Tr. p. 32, line 17 – p. 34, line 10; R. p. 419 line 17 – p. 421, line 10).

Tennessee and South Carolina have remarkably similar statutes with respect to sales tax administration. Tennessee’s statutes under the Retailer’s Sales Tax Act define the terms of sales tax before describing the technical handling of the tax. See Tenn. Code Ann. §§ 67-6-102, 67-6-203, and 67-6-401. The Tennessee sales tax rate is 7% applied in the business of selling tangible personal property at retail the state. § 67-6-202. South Carolina’s Sales and Use Tax Act similarly outlines the definitions and terms of the tax before specifically listing the procedural elements and exceptions. See §§ 12-36-60, 12-36-910, and 12-36-2110.

Both states exercise the sales tax on the retail of tangible personal property. Tenn. Code Ann. § 67-6-102(85) outlines tangible property as:

...personal property that can be seen, weighed, measured, felt or touched, or that is any other manner perceptible to the senses. Tangible personal property includes electricity, water, gas, steam, and pre-written computer software.

Both statutes attribute physical characteristics that are readily perceptible to the senses as indicative of tangible property. The statutes start the definition with almost the exact same language that emphasizes sight, touch, or any perceptible sensation as elements of tangible property. Furthermore, both statutes list goods like electricity and services that may not readily

discernable by the senses as tangible property. Finally, both Tennessee and South Carolina have expansive descriptions of the “sales price” or “gross proceeds” on which the sales tax is imposed.

Analyzing a nearly identical issue to the case at bar, the Tennessee Court of Appeals arrived at the conclusion that memberships are not tangible property. In *Barnes & Noble Superstores, Inc. v. Huddleston*, 1996 WL 596955 (Tenn. Ct. App. 1996), a bookstore sold “Reader’s Choice” membership cards to customers. This membership program entitled customers for the annual fee of \$10.00 to 10% discount on the bookstore’s merchandise in stores across the country. *Id.* at 1. Customers could either present the membership card or give the membership number and expiration date of the card to utilize the membership. *Id.* Based on these facts, the Court held that “the true object of the subject transactions... is to bestow upon club members the intangible right to receive a discount on merchandise.” *Id.* at 2. The court found the membership card was “merely an indicia of that intangible right and incidentally aids in the exercise of that right.” Thus, the memberships could not be subject to sales tax. *Id.* Here, like in *Barnes & Noble*, Books-A-Million offers customers the opportunity to purchase a membership that would entitle them to discounts. The main object of this membership is to gain an intangible right to receive exclusive discounts.

Similar to the Department in this case, the Tennessee Commissioner of Revenue attempted to characterize the Membership Fee in *Barnes & Noble* as a “prepayment for merchandise.” The Tennessee court rejected this argument because, identical in this case, the “member has no obligation ever to purchase any merchandise.” According to the court, “[t]he club member may ultimately elect not to avail himself of the privilege of buying anything.” Based on the foregoing, the Tennessee Court of Appeals found *Barnes & Nobles’* membership fee to be intangible property, which was disconnected from the purchase of any underlying tangible personal property.

The Florida Department of Revenue has ruled that a similar membership program involved a sale of intangible personal property, and thus was not subject to Florida sales tax. In Technical

Assistance Advisements 89(A)-022, the Florida Department of Revenue addressed whether the following discount card program, as described by the taxpayer at issue in the ruling, was subject to sales tax:

Corporation A is a discount bookseller operating various stores in Florida. As a part of our sales and marketing of books and other merchandise, Corporation A offers its customers a discount card. Customers purchase the discount card in order to purchase merchandise at additional discounted prices offered by Corporation A. The card has an established price of \$10 with an annual renewal fee of \$10.

During the periods at issue, Florida assessed a sales tax on the total selling price of tangible personal property sold at retail in Florida. Fla. Stat. § 212.05. Florida statutes defined the term “sales price” as “the total amount paid for tangible personal property . . . discounts allowed and taken at the time of sale shall not be included with the purview of this [definition].” Section Fla. Stat. § 212.02(17).

The Florida Department of Revenue found the sale of the discount card was “not the sale of tangible personal property but rather the sale of intangible property.” According to that agency, “[t]he discount card has no value in and of itself but only has worth when used in conjunction with the purchase of merchandise from Corporation A.”

The Virginia Department of Taxation came to a similar result in guidance provided to Appellant in 2009. As described by the Virginia agency:

[Appellant] sells annual memberships in a discount card program called the Millionaire’s Club. The Millionaire’s Club membership entitles the member to discounts on purchases of the [Appellant] through the use of a discount card. Sales Tax was assessed on the [Appellant’s] sales of Millionaire’s Club memberships.

The Virginia Department of Taxation based its findings on Virginia’s definition of “sale,” which included the “transfer of title or possession of tangible personal property or the rendition of a taxable service for a consideration.” Citing two prior agency rulings, the agency determined the

sale of the Millionaire's Club membership "did not include the transfer of tangible personal property or the provision of a taxable service." Based on the foregoing, the Virginia Department of Revenue concluded the Appellant's sales of Millionaire's Club memberships were exempt from Virginia's sales and use tax. See also Tenn. Rev. Rul. #14-08; *Dine Out Tonight Club v. Dep't of Revenue Servs.*, 210 Conn. 567 (1989); *State v. Amn. West Comty. Promotions, Inc.*, 645 N.W.2d 196 (2002); and Oklahoma Rev. Rul. #14-001.

If the ALC Order is correct, then sales of food, drink, and golf clubs by every membership golf club in South Carolina would include membership fees in the sales tax base. Under the Department's logic, even though the payment of the membership fee is not directly connected with the sale of tangible personal property and is in no way predictive of whether a member will actually purchase tangible personal property, the fees must be included in the value "proceeding or accruing" from the sale of refreshments and golf equipment. A similar rule would apply to sales of retail goods by every museum, art gallery, and zoo in South Carolina, which has a membership program which provides discounts to its members for purchase of tangible personal property.

2. The Department Has Established that Sales of Other Intangibles are Not Subject to Sales Tax.

A membership card is clearly an intangible, and the Department agrees. As stated below, the Department has ruled that sales of other intangibles are not subject to sales taxes. The Department has also stated that sales of other memberships are not subject to sales taxes.

For example, as stated below, South Carolina follows the national rule that the sale of gift cards – which, unlike Books-A-Million membership cards, have actual monetary value – are not subject to sales taxes. Gift Cards, like Books-A-Million membership cards, are viewed as an intangible and therefore not subject to sales taxes even when sold with books, CDs and other tangible personal property.

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