THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court Of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

Honorable John D. McLeod, Administrative Law Judge

RECEIVED

Case No. 16-ALJ-17-0113-CC
Appellate Case No. 2017-001519

FEB 26 2018

SC Court of Appeals

Books-A-Million, Inc.,.....Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Department of Revenue,Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Lauren Acquaviva (Bar No. 100528)
Counsel for Litigation
Sean G. Ryan (Bar No. 76585)
Managing Counsel for Litigation
PO Box 12265
Columbia, SC 29211-9979
(803) 898-5110
Lauren.Acquaviva@dor.sc.gov
CourtOrders@dor.sc.gov

Attorneys for Respondent
South Carolina Department of Revenue

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

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

ARGUMENTS

In an appeal from the decision of an administrative agency, the "review of the administrative law judge's order must be confined to the record," and this Court "may not substitute its judgment for the judgment of the administrative law judge as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact." S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610(B) (Supp. 2014). This Court may not reverse the ALC's decision unless it is clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record. Id. This Court should affirm the ALC's decision because, as will be discussed throughout this brief, it is supported by substantial evidence in the record.

The issue in this case is whether the ALC correctly determined, factually, that the Membership Fee (initial and renewal) constitutes value proceeding or accruing from the Taxpayer's sale of discounted tangible personal property. Resolving this issue involves determining whether the ALC correctly applied the facts to the law. Whether the facts of a case are correctly applied to a statute or whether activities meet a statutorily defined term is a question of fact subject to the substantial evidence standard. Thus, because the issue before the Court is factual and the ALC's decision is supported by substantial evidence in the record, this Court should affirm the ALC's decision.

Additionally, this Court should affirm the ALC's decision because there is no error of law. The language of the statute at issue in this case is plain and unambiguous. The Taxpayer argues that the court should employ certain rules of statutory interpretation, but these rules are inapplicable where—as here—the language of the statute at issue is plain and unambiguous. Moreover, because the Department is charged with administering the statute at issue, the Department's construction of the statute is entitled to deference and should not be overruled absent compelling reasons. The Department has long and consistently applied this taxing statute the same way it applied the statute to the Taxpayer. Therefore, this Court should affirm the ALC's decision.

I. THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT PROPERLY FOUND THAT THE TAXPAYER SHOULD HAVE INCLUDED THE PROCEEDS FROM ITS SALES OF CLUB MEMBERSHIPS, INCLUDING RENEWALS, IN ITS GROSS PROCEEDS OF SALES.

Under South Carolina law, “[a] sales tax, equal to [six]³ percent of the gross proceeds of sales, is imposed upon every person⁴ engaged or continuing within this State in the business of

³S.C. Code Ann. § 12-36-1110 (2014) imposes an additional one percent sales tax beginning on June 1, 2007.

⁴For sales and use tax purposes, the term person “includes any individual, firm, partnership, limited liability company, association, corporation, receiver, trustee, any group or combination

selling tangible personal property at retail.” S.C. Code Ann. § 12-36-910(A) (2014). Tangible personal property, as defined under the South Carolina Sales and Use Act, means “personal property which may be seen, weighed, measured, felt, touched, or which is in any other manner perceptible to the senses. It also means services and intangibles . . . the sale or use of which is subject to tax under this chapter” S.C. Code Ann. § 12-36-60 (2014). The Taxpayer is in the business of selling books, magazines, collectible supplies, cards, and other gifts in retail stores throughout the country, including South Carolina, and online. Accordingly, the Taxpayer is in the business of selling tangible personal property at retail, and the Taxpayer’s business is subject to South Carolina sales tax. Pursuant to § 12-36-910(A), the measure of tax is based on the taxpayer’s gross proceeds of sales. Therefore, the issue to be determined here is whether the ALC properly found that the Taxpayer’s Membership Fees are includable in its gross proceeds of sales.

S.C. Code Ann. § 12-36-90 (2014) defines “gross proceeds of sales” as follows:

[T]he **value proceeding or accruing** from the sale, lease, or rental of tangible personal property . . . without any deduction for (i) the cost of goods sold; (ii) the cost of materials, labor, or service; (iii) interest paid; (iv) losses; (v) transportation costs; (vi) manufacturer's or importer's excise taxes imposed by the United States; or (vii) any other expenses.

(emphasis added). Thus, the value of the tangible personal property plus all value that proceeds or accrues from the sale of the tangible personal property must be included in a taxpayer’s gross proceeds of sales. As will be discussed in more detail throughout this brief, the ALC properly found that the Membership Fee constitutes value that proceeds or accrues from the Taxpayer’s sale of tangible personal property. The ALC applied the plain meaning rule when reading § 12-36-90 and properly concluded that gross proceeds of sales includes the value that comes from or is a

acting as a unit, the State, any state agency, any instrumentality, authority, political subdivision, or municipality.” S.C. Code Ann. § 12-36-30 (2014).

direct result of the sale of tangible personal property. (R. pp. 7, 9 – 10; Am. Order 5, 7 – 8). The ALC then analyzed the facts of this case and correctly found that the Membership Program would not exist but for the Taxpayer’s sale of tangible personal property. (R. pp. 11 – 12; Am. Order 9 – 10). The ALC also correctly found that the Membership Program is inextricably linked to the Taxpayer’s sale of tangible personal property. (R. p. 12; Am. Order 10). Based on this factual analysis, the ALC properly concluded that the proceeds from the Membership Fees come from the sale of tangible personal property and should have been included in the Taxpayer’s gross proceeds of sales. (R. p. 12; Am. Order 10).

A review of the Taxpayer’s brief demonstrates that the Taxpayer misunderstands the issue before the Court. The Taxpayer focuses on other states’ sales tax laws and other factual scenarios. However, other states’ sales tax laws have no bearing on this matter. As will be discussed below, the language in § 12-36-90 is plain and unambiguous. Therefore, the Court needs to look no further than the plain language of § 12-36-90 to see that the ALC properly read the statute. Additionally, other factual scenarios have no bearing on this matter. As will be explained below, the ALC properly applied the facts *in this case* to the law, and the ALC’s decision is supported by substantial evidence in the record. The application of facts not before the ALC to the law does not change the fact that the Membership Fees should have been included in the Taxpayer’s gross proceeds of sales. Accordingly, the Court should affirm the ALC’s decision and disregard the Taxpayer’s discussion of other states’ sales tax laws and other sets of facts.

A. The ALC Properly Concluded that Gross Proceeds of Sales Include the Value that Comes From or is a Direct Result of the Sale of Tangible Personal Property.

Gross proceeds of sales includes “the value proceeding or accruing from the sale, lease, or rental of tangible personal property” Section 12-36-90. A plain reading of § 12-36-90 demonstrates that the ALC properly concluded that gross proceeds of sales include the value that

comes from or is a direct result of the sale of tangible personal property. (R. pp. 7, 9 – 10; Am. Order 5, 7 – 8). “The language of a tax statute must be given its plain ordinary meaning in the absence of an ambiguity therein.” Beach v. Livingston, 248 S.C. 135, 139, 149 S.E.2d 328, 330 (1966). “When faced with an undefined statutory term, the court must interpret the term in accord with its usual and customary meaning.” Strother v. Lexington Cty. Recreation Comm'n, 332 S.C. 54, 62, 504 S.E.2d 117, 122 (1998); see also Hughes v. W. Carolina Reg'l Sewer Auth., 386 S.C. 641, 649, 689 S.E.2d 638, 643 (Ct. App. 2010) (turning to the dictionary to determine the common meaning of the term inflammable). In other words, when a statute is unambiguous, a court must rely on the usual and customary meaning of the words in the statute when reading said statute. This rule of statutory construction is known as the “plain meaning rule.”

The ALC properly applied the plain meaning rule when reading the text of § 12-36-90. (R. pp. 7, 9 – 10; Am. Order 5, 7 – 8). A plain reading of § 12-36-90 demonstrates that gross proceeds of sales includes the value that comes from the sale of tangible personal property *in addition to* the value of the tangible personal property itself. The Merriam-Webster Dictionary defines “proceed” as “to come forth from a source” and “accruing” as “to come as a direct result of some state or action.” See Proceed, Merriam-Webster Dictionary, <http://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/proceed> (last visited Mar. 7, 2017) and Accruing, Merriam-Webster Dictionary, <http://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/accruing> (last visited Mar. 7, 2017). Thus, applying the usual and customary meaning of the terms “proceeding” and “accruing” demonstrates that § 12-36-90 requires taxpayers to include the value that comes from or is a direct result of the sale of tangible personal property in their gross proceeds of sales. Accordingly, the ALC properly concluded that “gross proceeds of sales includes **all** value that comes from or is a direct result of the sale, lease, or rental of tangible personal property, including proceeds from fees

related to incidental services, intangibles, or other benefits.” (R. p. 10; Am. Order 8) (emphasis added).

1. The ALC Properly Relied on Meyers Arnold, Travelscape, and Other Cases.

South Carolina courts have analyzed the definition of gross proceeds of sales several times and have concluded that gross proceeds of sales includes *all* value that comes from or is direct result of the sale, lease, or rental of tangible personal property. This Court analyzed the meaning of “gross proceeds of sales” in Meyers Arnold v. S.C. Tax Comm’n, 285 S.C. 303, 307, 328 S.E.2d 920, 923 (Ct. App. 1985). One of the issues in Meyers Arnold involved whether lay away fees paid in conjunction with lay away sales of tangible personal property were includable in gross proceeds of sales. Meyers Arnold, 285 S.C. at 307, 328 S.E.2d at 923. In determining whether the lay away fees were includable in gross proceeds of sales, the Court reasoned that but for the lay away sales Meyers Arnold would not receive any lay away fees; therefore, the lay away fees were included in the gross proceeds of sales and subject to tax. Id. In more general terms, Meyers Arnold holds that if a taxpayer could not collect a fee but for the sale of tangible personal property, then that fee is includable in the taxpayer’s gross proceeds of sales. Furthermore, the Meyers Arnold decision suggests that “service fees or benefits that are incident to the sale of tangible personal property are part of the gross proceeds of sales and subject to sales tax.” Southeastern Cinema Entertainment v. S.C. Dept. of Rev., 2014 WL 2417715, *5 (S.C. Admin. Law Ct. May 28, 2014). Accordingly, the ALC properly relied on Meyers Arnold in support of its conclusion that “[b]ut for the [Taxpayer’s] sale of tangible personal property, the [Taxpayer] would not be able to sell Millionaire’s Club memberships and, therefore, would not collect the Membership Fees.” (R. pp. 11 – 12; Am. Order 9 – 10).

The South Carolina Supreme Court also addressed the inclusion of associated fees in gross proceeds of sales. In Travelscape, LLC v. S.C. Dept. of Revenue, 391 S.C. 89, 98, 705 S.E.2d 28, 33 (2011), the issues before the Supreme Court included whether the facilitation fee and service fee that Travelscape added to the net rate of the room being rented were includable in the taxpayer's gross proceeds of sales. Id. The Supreme Court explained that “[t]he facilitation and service fees are retained by Travelscape as compensation for its role in [furnishing accommodations].” Id. at 95, 705 S.E.2d at 31. Thus, Travelscape's customers were paying for accommodations, and the fee for the taxpayer's reservation service was merely incidental to the purchase of the accommodations. The Supreme Court concluded “the fees charged by Travelscape for its services are subject to sales tax under the plain language of section 12-36-920(A)⁵ as gross proceeds.” Id. at 98, 705 S.E.2d at 33. Here again, the Court included a fee in the taxpayer's gross proceeds of sales that was not the amount charged for the taxable item – accommodations. Therefore, based on the analysis in Travelscape, the ALC properly concluded that because the “Membership Fees are payment for services or benefits that are incidental to the sale of tangible personal property,” such are includable in the Taxpayer's gross proceeds of sales. (R. p. 12; Am. Order 10).

2. The Taxpayer Fails to Read the Plain Language of Section 12-36-90.

Despite the above, the Taxpayer argues that the plain language of § 12-36-90 does not support the ALC's order. Specifically, the Taxpayer argues that gross proceeds of sales only include the amount charged for the tangible personal property. The Taxpayer argues that because

⁵Even though this statute only said “gross proceeds,” the Court used the definition of “gross proceeds of sales” found in § 12-36-90 when interpreting this statute. Accordingly, the Supreme Court's analysis of the term “gross proceeds” and “gross proceeds of sales” is instructive here.

the Membership Program is an intangible, proceeds from the sale of the Membership Program cannot be included in its gross proceeds of sales.⁶ As explained previously, § 12-36-90 states “gross proceeds of sales” means “the value proceeding or accruing from the sale, lease, or rental of tangible personal property” Thus, the Taxpayer’s reading of § 12-36-90 requires deleting from the statute the phrase “proceeding or accruing.” As our Supreme Court has held, “a statute should be construed that no word, clause, sentence, provision or part shall be rendered surplusage, or superfluous” Matter of Decker, 322 S.C. 215, 219, 471 S.E.2d 462, 463 (1995). Therefore, the Taxpayer’s reading of § 12-36-90 must fail as it renders the “value proceeding or accruing” language meaningless. When reading § 12-36-90 so as to give meaning to all the words in the statute, it is clear that § 12-36-90 is broad and encompasses the total value of a sale, not simply the amount paid for the tangible personal property. As such, the Taxpayer, not the ALC, fails to read the plain language of § 12-36-90.

Moreover, a review of South Carolina case law demonstrates that gross proceeds of sales include the value of services and intangibles that are derived from the sale of tangible personal property. See e.g., Travelscape, 391 S.C. at 98, 705 S.E.2d at 33; Meyers Arnold, 285 S.C. at 307, 328 S.E.2d at 923; Textile Restoration Services, Inc. v. S.C. Dept. of Rev., 2015 WL 7443800 *4 (S.C. Admin. Law Ct. Nov. 12, 2015) (finding the Department properly included the charges incident to the dry cleaning service in the taxpayer’s gross proceeds of sales); Southeastern Cinema Entertainment v. S.C. Dept. of Rev., 2014 WL 2417715 (S.C. Admin. Law Ct. May 28, 2014) (finding that “service fees or benefits that are incident to the sale of tangible personal property are

⁶The Taxpayer attempts to compare the Membership Program to a gift card, for example. Unlike gift cards or other similar intangibles, the Membership Program is not an alternative form of consideration. Thus, the fact that alternative forms of consideration are not included in gross proceeds of sales is irrelevant.

part of the gross proceeds of sales and subject to sales tax”); and Tronco’s Catering, Inc. v. S.C. Dept. of Rev., 2010 WL 5781622 *3 (S.C. Admin. Law Ct. Apr. 12, 2010) (finding “the value of the sale of catered meals includes service, labor, and room charges. Such charges are incidental to and merely enhance the value of the sale of catered meals.”).⁷ Despite all the cases that support the ALC’s decision here, the Taxpayer relies on the ALC’s incorrect and distinguishable decision in Alltel v. S.C. Dept. of Rev., 2015 WL 7681302 (S.C. Admin. Law Ct. Nov. 13, 2015).⁸ Specifically, the Taxpayer seems to rely heavily on the ALC’s conclusion in Alltel that because the indemnification coverage at issue was not tangible personal property, then proceeds from the sale of the indemnification coverage do not proceed or accrue from the sale of tangible personal property.⁹ In other words, the Taxpayer and the ALC in Alltel read § 12-36-90 to apply only to the amount paid for tangible personal property.¹⁰ Specifically, the ALC in Alltel incorrectly focused on whether the indemnification coverage met the definition of tangible personal property. 2015 WL 7681302 *12. However, as discussed above, § 12-36-90 does not define gross proceeds of sales as only the amount paid for tangible personal property. Rather, gross proceeds of sales

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